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s 10 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
c
e u NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
5
30 12 SAN JOSE DIVISION
- O
28 13 || LORETO CEREZO and NIDA CEREZO )  Case N0.13-1540PSG
35 )
a8 14 Plaintiffs, ) ORDER GRANTING -IN-PART AND
= V. ) DENYING-IN-PART DEFENDANTS’
o I ) MOTION TO DISMISS
hE WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A, et al, )
z2 16 )  (Re: Docket No.8)
£%9 Defendant. )
5 17 )
L 18 )
19 In this foreclosureelatedaction, Defendant Wells Fargo, N, &t al, (“Wells Fargo”)
20 move to dismiss the complaint filéy Plaintiffs Loreto and Nida Cerezo (“Plaintiffs”) purstaam
21 Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Pursuant to Civ. L.R. 7-1(b), the court found oral argument was
22 || unnecessary to resolution of this motiddaving reviewed paperthe court GRANTIN-PART
23 Wells Fargos motion
24
l. BACKGROUND
25
06 Unless otherwise noted, the court draws the following facts from Plaimififisplaint. On
27 January 19, 2006, Plaintiffs recorded a deed of trust (“DOT”) in Santa Clara Cgantgtahe
28 property at 3125 Woods Way, San Jose, California (the “Subject Propgers€furea promissory
1
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note (the “Note”) in the amount of $628,000. The DOT listed World Savings Bank, FSB (“Wo
Savings”) as the lender and Golden Savings Associated Service Co. (“Goldd® tastee.

Plaintiffs allege that World Savings securitized and sold the beneficial intetastDOT
to a mortgagdsacked securitiesust. But in 2006 or 2007, Wachovia Mortgage, FSB
(“Wachovia”) acquired World Savings’ assets including the DOT, despite ther sate by World
Savings. Wachovia, in turn, also securitized and sold the beneficial intettesttachovia
Mortgage Loa Trust Series 2006-ALT1 Trust (“Loan Trust”)According to Plaintiffs, after the
Wachoviasecuritization, Wachovia retained only servicing rights on the DOT. At some point
Wells Fargoacquired Wachovia and currently claims the right to foreclose on the Subjectt{roq

On December 7, 2012, a notice of default and election to sell under the deed of trust
(“NOD”) was recorded in Santa Clara County. Meriel (&ee”), representing herself as an
employee of NDEX West, LLC (“NDEX’)signed the NOD as agent for Wells Fargo, the
named beneficiary of the DOTOn or around January 2, 2013, a substitution of trustee was
recorded in Santa Clara County and was signed by Rick Juarez, purportedbisdaarm Vice
President of Wells FargoA notice of trustes sale (‘“NOTS”) was filed sometime after the NOD
and a trustee’s sale was scheduled for March 16, 2013.

Relying on these factual allegations, Plaintiffs filed a suit in Santa ClarayC8uperior
Courtfor several causes of action: breach of express agreement, breach of agpeaient,

slander of title, violation of Cal. Civ. Code 8 2923.5, wrongful foreclosure, violations of the

! Wells Fargo disputes that any securitization of the underlying promisserpomirred and
asserts that once this fact was pointed out to Plaintiffs, they dismissed OkSrd3a the case.
SeeDocket No. 6. The court accepts Plaintiffs’ allegagiosarding securitization of the loas
true for the purposes of this motion but cautions Plaintiffs, and especially their Ictliaise
asserting factual allegations that have no plausible support suggests behawaiation of the
obligations under Fed. R. Civ. P. 11, which requires after “an inquiry reasonable under the
circumstances” that factual allegations “have evidentiary support orcifisp#ty so identified,
will likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for funlvegigation or
discovery.” In any future amendments, Plaintiffs and their counsel would béonaseert only
facts that they believe they can support with evidence. Failure to do so exposesshaations.
SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 11(c).
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Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (“RICQO”), 18 U.S.C. § 1962, aatiovis|
of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. Wells Fargo removed to this court and filed this motion tg
dismiss.
. LEGAL STANDARD S

A complaint must contain “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the plg
is entitled to relief.? If a plaintiff fails to proffer “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is
plausible on its face,” the complaint may be dismissed for failure to state a clainwhioh relief
may be granted A claim is facially plausible “when the pleaded factcahtent allows the court to
draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct4lleged.
Accordingly, under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), which tests the legal sufficiency ofihesalleged
in the complaint, “[d]ismissal can based on the lack of a cognizable legal theébeyadysence of
sufficient facts alleged under a cognizable legal thedry.”

On a motion to dismiss, the court must accept all material allegations in the compla
true and construe them in the light mfzstorable to the nomoving party® The court’s review is

limited to the face of the complaint, materials incorporated into the complaint bbgnmede and

matters of which the court may take judicial notiddowever, thecourt need not accept as true

allegations that are conclusory, unwarranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable isferd

% Fed. R. Civ. P8(a)(2).

3 Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twomb}\550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).

* Ashcroft v. Igbgl556 U.S. 662, 663 (2009).

® Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dep’t901 F.2d 696, 699 (9th Cir. 1990).

® See Metzler Inv. GMBH v. Corinthian Colls., [0 F.3d 1049, 1061 (9th Cir. 2008).
" See idat 1061.

8 See Sprewell v. Golden State Warrj@86 F.3d 979, 988 (9th Cir. 2001¢esalso Twomb]ys50
U.S. at 561 (“a wholly conclusory statement of [a] claim” will not survive a moti@hsimiss).
3
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“Dismissal with prejudice and without leave to amend is not appropriate unlesseris c. that
the complaint could not be saved by amendmént.”
Il DISCUSSION

A. Preemption by HOLA

Wells Fargoargues that the Home Owner’s Loan Act (“HOLA”), 12 U.S.C. § 1464,
preempts all of Plaintiffs’ claims because the bases for their claims involvedegrdicticeghat
for federallychartered bardare the exclusive province thfe Office of Thrift Supervision
("*OTS"). Plaintiffs respond that HOLA does not preempt their claims bed&le#le Fargo is not a
federallychartered institution and in any event the claims fall under HOLA'’s sayirayision™®

Congress passed HOLA in 1933 in an era reminiscent of the recent turmoil in the houg
market. Responding to “record numbers of home loans . . . in default and a staggering numl
statechartered savings associations [that] were insolvent,” ssgmplemented HOLA with the
goal of “restor[ing] public confidence by creating a nationwide systendefdéésavings and loan
associations to be centrally regulated according to nationwide ‘best psattic Part and parcel

with that central regulain, Congress provided OTS with “broad authority to issue regulations

governing thrifts,*? which OTS in turn employed to occupy “the entire field of lending regulation

for federal savings association$."Noting its intent “to give federal savings associasi
maximum flexibility to exercise their lending powers in accordance withifarm federal scheme

of regulation,” OTS authorizef@deral savings assiations to “extend credit as authorized under

® Eminence Capital, LLC v. Asopeon, |16 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2003).
19Seel2 C.F.R. § 560.2(c).

1 Silvas v. E*Trade Mortg. Cors14 F.3d 1001, 1004 (9th Cir. 2008).

121d. (citing 12 U.S.C. § 1464).

1312 C.F.R. § 560.2(a).
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federal law . . . without regard to state laws purportngegulate or otherwise affect their credit
activities, except to the extent provided in” the regulatfon.
Section 560.2, which defines the scope of HOd&ljneats several examples of the types
of state lawshat arepreemped includinglaws governig
[d]isclosure and advertising, including laws requiring specific statemafdsmation, or
other content to be included in credit application forms, csatiititations, billing
statements, credit contracts, or other creglated documents and lanexjuiring creditors

to supply copies of credit reports to borrowers or appli¢afaad]

[p]rocessing, origination, servicing, sale or purchase of, or investment orgaitic in,
mortgages?®

The regulation also lists types sthte laws, including contract and commercial law, real property

law, and tort law, thadre nd preemptedto the extent that they only incidentally affect the lending

operations of federal savings associations or are otherwise consistent \pitingbgs of” OTS’s
regulations'’

In determining whether HOLA preempts a state law, courts follow thgasoinquiry
outlined by OT$® and endorsed by the Ninth Circtiit[T]he first step will be to determine
whether the type of law in question is listed in” Section 560.2(b), and if so, “the amalsisd
there; the law is preempted?” If not, “the next question is whether the law affects lendfigf’

so, “the presumption arises that the law is preempted,” and that presumption can onlyteée reb

.

1512 C.F.R. § 560.2(b)(9).

1%1d. § 560.2(b)(10).

71d. § 560.2(c).

180TS, Final Rule, 61 Fed. Reg. 50951, 50966-67 (Sept. 30, 1996).
9 See Silvass14 F.3d at 1006.

21d.

2d.
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“if the law can clearly be shown to fit within the confines of” Section 560°2(8ection 560.2(c)
“Is intended to be interpreted narrowly” and so “[a]ny doubt should be resolved in favor of
preemption.®®

Before the court reaches the question of whether Ai@deempts Plaintiffs’ claims, it first
must resolve whether Wells Fargo, which is not a fededchlartered institution, is entitled to clain
the preemptive powers of HOLA. This court and many otimetisis districthave held that the
status of the origator of the loan determines the applicability of HOLA to a particular f6ant
a few courts have more recentiyestiordthe logic of applying HOLA to a successor party such
as Wells Fargo, especially when the conduct at the heart of the actiorafigséise loan has
changed hand® One court noted that as authority for applying HOLA broadly to loans
originating with a federalkghartered institution‘courts generally citeeither (a) nothing, (b) each
other, or (c) generic statements of law about corporations succeeding ghteefithe entities
they acquire” ?° In response, some courts have applied HOLA only to activities arising bedore
loan changes hands from the federalhartered institution to a bank not governed by HGLA.

As appealing as the bright line methods of applying HOLA wholesale to anyssocae

interest to a federal savings associationfaetting a cubff dateafter which HOLA no longer

22 4.
23 d.

4 See, e.g. Cockrell v. Wells Fargo Bank, NGase NoCV 13-2072 SC, 2013 WL 3830048, at
*3 (N.D. Cal. July 23, 2013 ppling v. Wachovia Mortg., FSB45 F. Supp. 2d 961, 971 (N.D.
Cal. 2010).

> See, e.gH Hopkins v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,&£ase No. CIV. 2:13-04444 WBS JFM, 2013 W
2253837, at *3 (E.D. Cal. May 22, 201Rodriguez v. U.S. Bank Nat. AssCase No. 12-00989
WHA, 2012 WL 1996929, at *7 (N.D. Cal. June 4, 20M\2ltierra v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
Case No. 1:10-0849, 2011 WL 590596, at *4 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 10, 2011).

26 Hopkins 2013 WL 2253837, at *3 (quotingerber v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,ACase No. 11-
1083 PHX NVW, 2012 WL 413997, at *4 (D.Ariz. Feb. 9, 2012)).

2" See, e.gHopkinsg 2013 WL 2253837, at *Rodriguez 2012 WL 1996929, at *7.
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applies may be, the undersigned is not convitticateither of these ruteprovides a complete
picture of how HOLA preemption should be applf@dThe crucial factor would appear to be not
only whose conduct is at issue but whether the conduct derives from the successoracteasp
or from its obligations under documentslanstruments originally drafted by an institution
regulated by HOLA. fithe cause of action arises out of activities in which the federal savings
association engaged, those actiomst likelywould fall within HOLA. If the conduct at issue is
not the federal savings association’s but rather the successor’s, the questgsmivie wouldseem
to be whether the action stems from the successor’s obligations on instrungenggiog from he
HOLA-governed bank or whether the successor is acting independently of any reqtsreame
the instruments.

The parties have not provided to the court sufficient briefing to resolve this issue thed s
court leaves for another day the best method of defining HOLA preempt®axplained in detalil
below, based on the court’s analysis of Plaintiffs’ complaint, the causesaof t&it as pleaded for
failure to state a claim. The court thus does not address further the preempgduissivites the
parties in any subsequent motions regarding the claims to address this is&re furt
B. Breach of Express Agreements

Plaintiffs allege that Defendants breached the Deed of Trust and a PSA. To state a clg
for breachof an express agreement, Plaintifisist allege (1) “the contract,” (#)eir “performance

or exaise for nonperformance,” (8yells Fargés breach, and (4) damageRtaintiffs from the

28 Absent from any of these cases and from the parties’ briefs in this case ietite@xthich a
successor such as Wells Fargo is or is not regulated by HOLA because itdh@sdnhstruments
originally governed by the statute and its implementing regulations. I§\Walgo remains bound
to the HOLA regulations despite not being a federal savings association, extei@liAgs
preemption would seem to be appropriate. If not, Wells Fargo ends up benefitting fromimgt h
to comply with the practices that OTS sets for federal savings assosiatie also being
shielded from any state attempts to govern its actions. The court doubts that €ongnesOTS
intended HOLA preemption to be deployed in that manner.
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breach?® As to the ODT allegationeven assuming it serves as a contfletintiffs fail to allege
thattheyperformed their obligationsr provideany excuse for nonperformance of their
obligations.A separate issue arises frétaintiffs’ allegationdecause they argue that after the
securitization of the loan, Wells Fargo was no longer a party to the DOT. Asstaing true,
Wells Fargo could hardly breach a purported contract to which they were no longer &yem
by Plaintiffs’ own allegations, the claim fails.

The PSA breach claim likewise fail®laintiffs assert that they are thighrty beneficiaries
to the PSA, although they do not offer any provision from the PSA suggesting that tkeetiteréd
to that statusThat set of factual allegations is insufficient under a breach of expresaatont
theory. Because both theories fail, the motion to dismiss is GRANTED. In theintoppos
Plaintiffs dfer numerous arguments about securitization of loans and improper foreclosure, ng
of which suggest that they can amend their claim to allege a breach of expeesseagrclaim.
Despite this deficiency, the court finds that the liberality with which the Nimttui€interprets
Rule 15(a) requires allowing Plaintiffs at least omareopportunity to try to plead this clainThe
breachof-expressagreement claims are DISMISSED WITH LEAVE TO AMEND.

C. Breach of Implied Agreement

Plaintiffs next allege tha¥Vells Fargocreated some kind of indemnification obligation to
them thatWells Fargan turn breachedPlaintiffs also allege that Wells Fargo “invoked the powe
of sale without noticeas required by the DOT. As an initial matter, this second atileg would
appear to be a breach of an express agreement; Plaintiffs have not explaineddiatioa of the
DOT would be an implied agreement. Even if Plaintiffs’ assertion somehow involvegkedm
agreement, Plaintiffs appear to confuse the pmkeale of the property with the power of sale of

the debt instrument, the promissory note. Plaintiffs have not alleged that the propactyhas

29 Wall Street Network, Ltd. v. N.Y. Times Q&4 Cal. App. 4th 1171, 1178 (2008).
8
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been sold, and in fact point to the potential loss of title as a harm from the breachirmipliesd*
agreement®

As to the indemnification agreement that Plaintiffs allege Wells Fargo bredbbid,
factual allegationfail to support the existence of an implied agreement bedaey reveal
nothing about the nature of this agreement or how it was reaeltvwden the partieslhey solely
rely on an allegation of the “contractual relationship” with Wells Fargo atidtiaeir claim that
they are a “thirgparty beneficiary to the PSA” to insist Wells Fargo has an indemnification
obligation to thent! But theg “allegations” are merely legal conclusions, which the court need
not accept as tru®. Plaintiffs offer no facts that support those conclusions, and so dismissal of
their claim is warrantedAgain, in light of the liberality of Rule 15(a), the copetmits Plaintiffs
to try to amend these claims with factual allegations that support their clahmasreackof-
implied-agreement claim is DISMISSED WITH LEAVE TO AMEND.
D. Slander of Title

Plaintiffs nextallege slander of title in connection with tR®D, NOTS and the
substitution of trustee. Slander of title “occurs when a person, without a privaleigesb,
publishes a false statement that disparages title to property and causérpézss® “The
recordation of an instrument facially valid but without underlying merit will gise to an action

for slander of title.?* To state a claim for slander of title, Plaintiffaist allege: “1) a publication,

30 SeeDocket No. 1-17 32.

#1d. 1 30.

32 |gbal, 556 U.Sat 663.

% Truck Ins. Exchange v. BenndiB Cal. App. 4th 75, 85 (1997).

34 Stamas v. City of Mader&@95 F. Supp. 2d 1047, 1068 (E.D. Cal. 2011) (ci8egly v. Seymour
190 Cal. App. 3d 844, 857 (1987Hee also Ogilvie v. Select Portfolio Servi¢ihg-CV-001654-
DMR, 2012 WL 3010986, at *3 (N.D. Cal. July 23, 2012).

9
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2) which is without privilege or justifi¢teon, 3) which is false, and 4) which causes direct and
immediate pecuniary loss>

Wells Fargo argues that the recorded documents were not false, that the doquarants i
event were privileged® and that Plaintiffs have failed to allege financial hakells Fargo also
challenges Plaintiffs’ assertions that the purportedly false statemehtsdiocuments were made
with malice, a requirement for overcoming their privileged staliugheir opposition, Plaintiffs
fail to address directly the slanddrtitle claim and how their allegations satisfy the elements.
They instead assert that they have alleged sufficient facts to challedigd=#/go’s standing to
initiate the foreclosureThe court nevertheless evaluaties complaint in light of Wells Fgo’'s
arguments to determine whether the allegations support Plaintiffs’ claim.

As an initial matter, to the extent Plaintiffs believe they can challenge the stahdiriger
Wells Fargo or NDEX to initiate foreclosure through litigation, California tsoliave rejected this
practice?” They may only raise arguments regarding the propriety of Wells Fatigaity
foreclosure in terms of a separate cause of action.

As to the slander of title claim, Plaintiffs satisfactorily allege publicatiogcording
documents necessarily publishes them. For falsity, Plaintiffs asserethatds not an employee
of NDEX, on whose behalf she signed the NOD, but rather was an employee of Wgl2®Far
They also assert that the declaration regarding Cal. Civ. Code § 2923.5, which is redhbieed w

notice of default, was false because an employee of Wells Fargo rather thayeengbiNDEX

% Manhattan Loft, LLC v. Mercury Liquors, Ind.73 Cal. App. 4th 1040, 1051 (2009).
3¢ SeeCal. Civ. Code § 47(c)(1); Cal. Civ. Code § 2924(d)(1).

3" See Gomed.92 Cal. App. 4th at 1154 (holding that Cal. Civ. Code § 2924 does not provide
judicial action in order to determinate whether a nominee is authorized to initiati®$ore on
behalf of the noteholderi{errera v. Fed. Nat. Mortg. Ass'i205 Cal. App. 4th 1495, 1506 (2012).

38 SeeDocket No. 11 atq 37.
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signed that declaratiofi. Plaintiffs further allege that the substitution of trustee likewise was
invalid because Juarez, who signed the document, is not an employee of Welf& Fiejotiffs
assert that he is an employee of U.S. Bank and a ‘simer.”* These allegations suffice to meet
the falsity element because they support a claim that the documents make fatsntépns.

To show lack of privilege (i.e. malice), Plaintiffs allege that Wells Fargo’s attemp
substitute a trustee and to initiate the foreclosure when it did not have the rdugrsiieial
interest to do so — and knew it did not have that interest — amounts to reckless disregard of th
truth. These allegations pass muster because they assert that Wellsrieavgt did not have the
requisite status to engage in the foreclosure process.

As to pecuniary harm, Plaintiffs allege three sources of harm: (1) impairmest to th
vendibility of the Subject Property; (2) Plaintiffs’ mortgage payments @étis/fFargo even though
Wells Fargo did not own the Note; and (3) attorneys’ fees for having to bring tiois. athe
vendibility claim is insufficient because Plaintiffs have aliéged any impending sale. The
attorneys’ fees claim likewise fails because they do not bring a quiet title actemdoeg any
cloud from the title. Attorneys’ fees arising from a quiet title action may be usbdwolarm;
fees from the prosecution of the slander of title action ma§n®he allegedly misdirected
mortgage payments also do not suffice because the purported harm did not arise &ltegetty
falsepublications. Plaintiffs’ claim about the mortgage payments arises from thedallege
securitization of the loan and the fact that Wells Fargo did not have the bémeterist to collect

mortgage payments, not from the NOD or the NOTS.

3 See idat T 29.

0 See idat T 42.

1 See id.

2 SeeOgilvie, 2012 WL 3010986, at *4.
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The slander ofile claim is DISMISSED WITH LEAVE TO AMEND.
E. California Civil Code § 2923.5

Wells Fargo challenges this claim on the grounds that Plaintiffs fail to allegelijexSu
Property is owner-occupied as required by the Section 2923.5 and that Section 2923.5 does
require that the declaration be signed by someone with personal knowledge aboravgells
compliance actions. Plaintiffs respond with a reiteration of their complainsémes that Wells
Fargo failed to contact them 30 days before the NOD was filed and that asfgoiee* signed the
declaration of compliance, rendering the document false.

This court and several others have found that Section 2923.5 is preempted by H@ILA,
as the court explained in detail above, the application of H@LWells Fargo is an issue that
requires further briefing than either of the parties have provided. The couersdetion here,
therefore, is without prejudice to any subsequent claim of preemption that Wgltsriray bring
with the requisite argunmés about the application of preemption to this loan, depending of cour
on that outcome.

Section 29235 requires “mortgagee[s], beneficiar[jesr authorized agent|s]” to “contact

the borrower in person or by telephone in order to assess the borrower’s finamaiedrsénd

*3See, e.g., Nguyen v. JP Morgan Chase Bank ase No. 12v-4183 PSG, 2013 WL
2146606, at *6 (N.D. Cal. May 15, 2013)arela v. Wells Fargo Home MorigCase No. C-12-
3502 KAW, 2012 WL 6680261, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 21, 2012) (quoting 12 C.F.R.
8560.2(b)(10))see alsdNgoc Nguyen v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A19 F.Supp.2d 1022, 1033 (N.D.
Cal. Oct. 27, 2010PDeLeon v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,A29 F.Supp.2d 1119, 1127 (N.D. Cal.
2010) (collecting cases with similar holding8g@rcray v. Shea Mortg., IncCase No. CW-09-
1942 OWWI/GSA, 2010 WL 1659369, at *9 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 23, 2010) (concluding that HOLA
preempts section 2923.5 because it “concerns the processing and servicing afrjttig' gl
mortgage”).

* The California Legislature amended Section 2923.5 to add new requirementsdes 0bti

hot

default filed after January 1, 2013eeS.B. 900, 2011-2012 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Cal. 2012). Because

the NOD at issue here was filed before that date, the court looks to the easi@n véiSection
2923.5. SeeS.B. 306, 2009-2010 Leg., Reg. Sess. (Cal. 2009).
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explore options for the borrower to avoid foreclosreA mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or
authorized agent may not file a notice of default pursuant to Section 2924 until 30 dajykiafter
initial contact.®® It also provides that a notice of default nevertheless may be filed if the
mortgagee, beneficiary, or authorized agent employed due diligence to atienact the
borrower but was unable to do ¥oThe statute defines “due diligence” as a series of steps take
to attempt to reach the borrower, including telephone calls, certified |ettetposts on the
lenders’ websitd® Section 2923.5 applies only towneroccupied residential real propert}’”

Although it is true that Plaintiffs fail to allege that they are owsoeupiers of the Subject
Property, the declaration of compliance attached to the N@bDwhich Wells Fargo requests
judicial notice—indicates that Wells Fargo attempted to reach Plaintiffs and despite its due
diligence was unable to do 3b.Even though Wells Fargo had the option to state that the propd
was not “owner-occupied” and so Section 2923.5 did not apply, it did not sateri And so,
despite the deficiency in the complaint, given that Wells Fargo has requestine thaurt take
notice of a document that suggests Wells Fargo in fact believed the SubjectyRigseowner-
occupied, the court does not dismiss this claim on those grounds.

The court, however, rejects Plaintiffs’ claim that a person with personal &dge/bf the
actions taken in compliance with Section 2923.5 needs to sign the declaration or that the

declaration failed to include the proper beneficiary of the Note. Section 2923.5 doegpiivet re

> Cal. Civ. Code § 2923.5(a)(2).
“1d. § 2923.5(a)(1).
“7|d. § 2923.5(g).
“8|d. § 2923.5(g)(1)5).
“91d. § 2923.5()).
0 SeeDocket No. 9 Ex. B.
*1Seeid.
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that a person with personal knowledge sign the declartmmg Plaintiffs have not sufficiently
alleged how any misidentification of the beneficiary on the declaration pre§ltient® But
because Plaintiffs allege that Wells Fargo never contacted them befayehfdinNOD, the
allegations suffice.

Although dismissal at this stage is not appropriate, the court notes that the réanaf{sP
seek for the alleged violation of Section 2923.5 is an injunction preventing Wells Fargo f

attempting to dispossess them from the Subject Property. The only avaitabt/rer violations

of Section 2923.5 is a delay in the foreclosure until complidh@ut because the foreclosure sale

has not yet occurred, ifid@ntiffs prevail on the merit3; they may be entitled to that delay. As
such, the motion to dismiss is DENIED.
E. Wrongful Foreclosure

Wrongful foreclosure is an action in equity in which the mortgagor or trustor seeks to
unwind an “illegal, fraudulent, or willfully oppressive sale of real property patdoaa power of
sale in a mortgage or deed of trustdr to prevent such a sale from occurrifgA plaintiff must
demonstrate prejudice or harm and, depending on whether the plaintiff is ch@llasgla or
seeking to prevent a pending sale, may be required to tender payment of the dédasotat

allege the ability to tender paymetit.

2 See Pantoja v. Countrywide Home Loans,, 1640 F. Supp. 2d 1177, 1186 (N.D. Cal. 2009).

%3 See id(noting that courts “have rejected claims of deficient notice where no prejudice was
suffered as the result of a procedural irregularity”).

>4 See Shaterian v. Wells Fargo Bank, N29 F. Supp. 2d 873, 887 (N.D. Cal. 2011).

> And if their claim is not preempted by HOLA.

¢ permito v. Wells Fargo Bank, N,ACase No. C-12-00545 YGR, 2012 WL 1380322, at *3 (N.D.

Cal. Apr. 20, 2012JquotingLona v. Citibank N.A.202 Cal. App. 4th 89, 104 (2011)).

" There is some division in the courts as to whether the “tender rule” precludesantlaom
seeking to prevent a pending nonjudicial foreclosure, as opposed to attempting to “wawind”
14
Case No.: 3-1540PSG

ORDER

)




United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N Pk

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R B R
0o N o 0N WN P O ©OW 0o N O o dN WwN B O

The court initially must note that Plaintift not allege that sale of the Property has
taken place andadnot allegehatthey have tendered the full amount of their outstanding
obligation. Wells Fargo asserts that these two factors are dispositive. AccordingjloRargo,
because no sale has occurred, the claim is not ripe, and because Plaintifist lafleged their
ability to tender the outstanding debt, they are precluded from bringing a wrongtlb $ore
claim. Plaintiffs counter that they should not be required to allege tendersbdbair claim fits
within an exception to the tender rule.

Courts have recognized various exceptions to the tender rule, including based on an
allegation that a foreclosure sale is totally void and not merely voidable doe ézample, a
notice error’® Under these circumstances, the court cannot find erflaintiffs’ failure to allege
compliance with the tender rulés to the ripeness argument, this court and others have held th
an impending foreclosure sale is sufficient to state a wrongful foreelotaim>® Here, given the
NOD and the NOTS, Plaintiffs’ claim is ripe.

A the heart oPlaintiffs’ claim isan allegatiorthatneither NDEX nor Wells Fargo had the

authority to invoke the power of sale or right to foreclbseause World Savings/Wachovia

foreclosure that has taken plaBee Rodriguez v. Bank of Ameribi. C 11-3839-PSG, 2011
WL 5864108, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 22, 201 0. SilvaPearson v. BAC Home Loans Servicing,
LP, No. C 11-1491 SI, 2011 WL 2633406, at *2 (N.D. Cal. July 6, 2011) (finding no basis for t
“tender rule” in an action challenging angkng foreclosure, as opposed to the commaitbd

line of cases requiring tender based on an attempt to set aside forecdandanpanah v.
Sacramento Valley Mortg. Grou@ase NoC 09-2024 SBA, 2009 WL 4573381, at *7 (N.D. Cal.
Dec. 1, 2009) (dismssng claim forwrongful foreclosure on grounds that “debtor must allege a
credible tender of the amount of the secure debt” regardless of pending oafpasbist
foreclosure)

8 See Tamburri v. Suntrust Mortg., Inblo. C-11-2899-EMC, 2011 WL 62944 7%#,*4-5 (N.D.

Cal. Dec. 15, 2011) (finding multiple “exceptions and qualifications counsel againskatbla
requirement of the tender rule at the pleading stage” based on a review of statkeasidchse
law). See also Ogilvie2012 WL 3010986, at *6 &tlining to apply the tender rule at the early
pleading stage)NG Bank v. AhnNo. C-09-995-TEH, 2009 WL 20893965, at *2 (N.D. Cal. July
13, 2009) (same).

9 See Patel v. U.S. Bank, N.&ase No. C 13-748 PSG, 2013 WL 3770836, at *7 (N.D. Cal. Ju
16, 2013);Tamburri 2011 WL 6294472, at *14.
15
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effectively disposed of the beneficial interesthe Notebefore any transfer to Wells Fargo
Plaintiffs further assert that NDEX could not be substituted as the trustagsbed/ells Fargo,
which did the substitution, lacked the power to transfer the trustee positiells Fargo
challenges this proposition on the grounds that the right to foreclose is not lost uporzagoarit
of the promissory note.

It is true that other courts have held that securitization of the promissory note does not|
result in losf the power of sale under a deed of tAisBut after having reviewed those cases,
the court does not agree that despite the sale of the beneficial interest inssprpmote
(essentially proceeds from the mortgage) the seller of the interest sometams the rights to
foreclose on property (the consequence from failing to pay the mortgage). iAgshen
securitization occurred, as the court must at this stage, Plaintiffs hawsesidiff alleged World
Savings/Wachovia had no beneficial intetedransfer to Wells Fargo, and so Wells Fargo had 1
right to appoint NDEX as a new trustee, and NDEX had no right to initiate foreclosure
proceedings.

As to prejudice or harnRlaintiffs allege that ifWells Fargo proceedwith the foreclosure
sale, Plantiffs will be subject to the wrongful loss of their hofffeWells Fargchas not challenged
this allegation as inadequate. As expressed by the colamiburri “the threat of foreclosure by
the wrong party would certainly be sufficient to constitute prejudice to thedvamee because

there is no power of sale without a valid notice of defdlilThe prospect of wrongful foreclosure

®0'See, e.g., Lane v. Vitek Real Estate Indus. Grail® F. Supp. 2d 1092, 1099 (E.D. Cal. 2010);
Benham v. Aurora Loan Sery2009 WL 2880232, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 1, 2009).

®1 SeeDocket No. 11 at | 78

%2 Tamburri 2011 WL 6294472 at *14 (citinGastillo v. SkobaNo. 10cv1838 BTM, 2010 WL
3986953, at*2 (S.D. Cal. Oct. 8, 2010) (“The power of sale in a nonjudicial foreclosure may o
be exercised when a notice of default has first been recorded....fpA¢cjosure sale based on a
void notice of default is also void.”) (citing Cal. Civ. Code § 2924;Z3-California Real Estate
Law & Practice § 123.01).
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stemming from the issuance of foreclosure not grounded in a valid, beneficiadtidehis
sufficient.

In sum, becausel&intiffs have stated a facially plausible claim that the nonjudicial
foreclosure process was not founded on a valid, beneficial interest they maytpansueongful
foreclosure claim.

F. RICO

Plaintiffs allege that Wells Fargo violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962, although they do noyspec
under which section the claims arisehey referspecifically only to Section 1962(8Jwhich
prohibits conspiring to violate Sections 1962(a), 1962(b), and 1962(c), altRtaighffs do not
state which of the sections thelaim Wells Fargaonspired to violateTheallegations also
suggest thaiVells Fargoengaged in activity prohibited by Section 1962(a), and so the court
considers the allegations under the rubrics of both Section 1962(a) and Section 1962(d). In g
casetheclaims fail.

To state a claim under Section 1962 dgintiffs must allege that (1) “a person receives
income derived directly or indirectly form a patterrratketeering activity or unlawful debt”; (2)
“that person uses or invests, directly or indirectly, any part or proceeds ohsoatei in the
acquisition of any interest in, or the establishment or operation of any enterpmi$€3) “that
enterprise i®ngaged in or its activities affect interstate or foreign commé&fcBlaintiffs must
also allege “that the investment of racketeering income was the proximate causajaf)i€>

To state a claim under Section 1962(d), on the other handndleelynot allege any action in

%3 SeeDocket No. 36 af 85.

®4 Jalili v. Far East Nat. BankCase No. C 12-5962 SBA, 2013 WL 1832648, at *3 (N.D. Cal. M
1, 2013).

4.
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furtherance of a RICO violatioff. Theyarerequired only to allege th&¥ells Fargoagreed to act
in a way that violates one of the other sections of 18 U.S.C. §%1962.

Under either provisiorRlaintiffs also must allege th&Vells Fargoengaged in or agreed to
engage in one of the activities listed in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(a) as a predicate aketfaraog®™ If
the predicate act of racketeering involves fraidjntiffs aresubject to the heightened pleading
requirements of FedR. Civ. P. 9(bf?

Wells Fargoassen that Plaintiffs fail to allege facts sufficient to state a RICO cland
fail to meet the specificity requirements of Rule 9(B)aintiffs’ allegations regarding the
underlying racketeering activity appear to address two types of femtdidnduct on the part of
Wells Fargo First, theyappear to claim that Wells Fargdailure to inform then of the
securitization of the loan instrumentsva fraudulent omission on which yheelied to their
detriment’® SecondPlaintiffs claimthatWells Fargoengaged im conspiracy essentially to
eliminate the documentation requirements for mortgdy&@sey allege that through the
securitization of loas, Wells Fargoconspired to upend traditional recording requirements, and

then through the use of the mail and the inteib&ted documents with false claims regarding its

interests in the properties upon whitsought to foreclos&

% See Salinas v. United Stat&82 U.S. 52, 63 (1997).
%" See idat 64.

% See Occupational-Urgent Care Health Sys., Inc. v. Sutro & Co,,1ht.F. Supp. 1016, 1021
(E.D. Cal. 1989).

% Seeid.
0 SeeDocket No 1 at1 83-87.
Seed.atT 90.
"2See idat 11 92-98
18

Case No.: 3-1540PSG
ORDER




United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N Pk

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R B R
0o N o 0N WN P O ©OW 0o N O o dN WwN B O

Plaintiffs’ claim fails to include the details of the alleged mail and wire fraud supposedly
giving rise to the RICO claif® Rule 9(b) requirePlaintiffs to state “the time, place, and specific
content of the false representations as well as the identities ofrties pa the
misrepresentation’® Theallegations fail to meet this standard. As a preliminary matter,
Plaintiffs’ shift between the types of fraud on which he bases his RICO claims already tieaals
he has not alleged with specificity the predicate acts. Is the RICO claimdratezlallegedly
fraudulent omission regarding the securitization of the loan or is it based on alleged
misrepresentations about the proper beneficiary of the loan? The complaint doewicet the
answer.

The allegationsheydo make further reveal thdteyhave failed to meet the requirements
of Rule 9(b). For exampl®|laintiffs asserts that “[a] separate count of Mail Fraud took place e3
and every time a fraudulent pleading, Affidavit, Promissory Note assignmengageror
mortgage assignment was sent by a Defendant through the use of the US [i&] NNathing in
that statement explains which documents were fraudulent, which defendants sentdhiert
documents, when they sent the document, or what in thexdnts was false. Another example
highlights the broad generalization of the complaiBlaintiffs esert that “[t{hese Defendants
intentionally participated in a scheme to defraud everyone, including the fldaentid that they
thereby “contribut[ed] to the foreclosure crisi8."These allegations do not suffice to meet the
particularity necessary to allege successfully a claim of fraud. And s@ &xtiént thaPlaintiffs

allegea volation of Section 1962(a), theaim fails.

3 See Blake v. Dierdotf856 F.2d 1365, 1368 (9th Cir. 1988) (applying Rule 9(b) to RICO clain
based on fraudjee also Occupational-Urgerntll F. Supp. at 1021 (noting Rule 9(b) applies to
RICO claims based on fraud).

" Schreiber Distrib. Co. v. Serv-Well Furniture Co., |r&806 F.2d 1393, 1401 (9th Cir. 1986).
> Docket No. 1-1at T 93.

®1d. at{ 83.
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Their attempt to allege a Section 1962(d) claim likewise faflintiffs assert conclusorily
thatWells Fargo and other defendants conspired to steal real property throudHollegasure
liens,”” but the actual factthey allege do not support that claiffaintiffs asert that various
“securitizers/underwriters,” “bankers,” and Wells Faegsentially agreed to undermine the
traditional mortgage and lending system through the securitization of loans @ndestdeabide
by traditional recording mechanisrffs But these actions do not coincide with any of the listed
predicate activities under Section 1961(a), which is required to state a RGO &ven assuming
that the allegations could support some kind of mail fraud claim adaligitt Fargo nothing in
Plaintiffs’ allegations supports th&Yells Fargoor any of the unnamed emonspirators agreed to
engage in the frauf.

The RICO claim is DISMISSED WITH LEAVE TO AMEND.

G. Section 17200

Plaintiffs basetheir Section 17200 claim diNells Fargo’s attempt to forexde on the
Subject Property even though Wells Fargo knew it had no right to do so. PlaintifienSet200
claimfails becauséhey havenot asserted the requisite harihey allege that because @fells
Fargds unfair business practices, “a aibhas been placed on Plaintitile and [their] interest in
the Subject Property has been placed in jeopdiftiut Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17204 requires

plaintiffs to establish thahey have suffered an “injury in fact and hajve] lost money or propsrtyf

"See idat 1 92.
®See idat T 101.

" See, e.g. icht 86 (alleging false documents were sent through the mail but not alleging any
agreement to do so).

801d. at 1 52.
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a result of the unfair competitioff™” Plaintiffs have not alleged that théavelost either money or
property as a result &Vells Fargo’salleged actions.

The Section 17200 claim is DISMISSED WITH LEAVE TO AMEND.

IV.  CONCLUSION

The court dismissedl@laims with leave to amend save the claims for wrongful foreclost
and Section 2923.5. The court reserves to right, pending further briefing from thg, partie
determine the preemptive effect of HOLA on these claims if Wells Fargo ultimatelsghat it is
entitled to the preemptive effect of HOLA. Plaintiffs shall file any amended corhplgimn

fourteen days of this order.

ITIS SO ORDERED.

Dated: August 6, 201 Pl S. AP
PAUL S. GREWAL
United States Magistrathudge

81 See Walker v. Geico Gen. Ins. (868 F.3d 1025, 1027 (9th Cir. 2009).
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